
3as                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     
 
 
 
 

 
       

DISCLAIMER: The timeframes identified in the agenda below are provided as a guideline for the meeting. These are 
subject to change as needed. 

COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC: At this time, members of the public may comment on any item not appearing on 
the agenda that are within the subject matter jurisdiction of the commission. Because of restrictions imposed by 
the Brown Act, the Commission may not engage in substantive discussion, nor take action on matters not 
described on the agenda.   

1. 6:30-6:35—Approval of the Minutes from May 11, 2016 (attachment) 

2. 6:35-6:40—Exceptions to the 120 day deadline and Event Policy Section F—VOMAA 4th of 
July Show and VOMAA 55th Annual Artist and Artisan Event (attachments) 

3. 6:40-6:50—Event Reviews (attachments) 

a. VOMAA 4th of July Show 
b. VOMAA 55th Annual Artist and Artisan Event—June 11, 2016 
c. Oktoberfest—October 1, 2016 

4. 6:50-7:00—Post Event Review (attachment) 

a. Cinco De Mayo—May 1, 2016 

5. 7:00-7:10—Special Events Budget Template Discussion (attachment)  

6. 7:10-7:15—Subcommittee Reports  

a. Tree Committee (Standing Subcommittee) 

Participates on Tree Committee as voting member; reviews Tree Removal applications, 
arborist reports, research special projects. Comms. Rateaver and Brown. 
Next Tree Committee Meeting: June 16, 2016 

• Action: Appoint alternate member 
• Approval letter: Attachments 

7. 7:15-7:45—Consideration of the SSCA Penglai Committee Pavilion (attachments) 

8. 7:45-7:55—Overview of the Sonoma County Library  

9. 7:55-8:15—Review of Sonoma Overlook Trail Maintenance Proposals (attachments) 

10. 8:15-8:25—Farmer’s Market Discussion 

11. 8:25-8:30—Future Agenda Items 

12. 8:30—Commissioner and Staff Comments 

13. Adjournment (Next regular meeting is July 13, 2016) 
 

Copies of all staff reports and documents subject to disclosure that relate to any item of business referred to on the agenda are available for 
public inspection the Monday before each regularly scheduled meeting at City Hall, located at No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma CA.  Any 
documents subject to disclosure that are provided to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the City Council regarding any item on this 
agenda after the agenda has been distributed will be made available for inspection at City Hall, No. 1 The Plaza, Sonoma CA during regular 
business hours. 

   ___________________________________________ 
   Katherine Wall, Public Works Administrative Manager 

COMMUNITY SERVICES & ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION  
 EOC Room (Adjacent to the Police Department) 

175 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 95476 

Wednesday, June 8, 2016 
6:30 P.M. Regular Meeting 

 
Commissioners: Christopher Petlock-Chairman, Fred Allebach, Ken Brown, Christina Cook, Amy Harrington, 

Inge Hutzel, Richard Pollack, Chris Rateaver, Denise Wilbanks 

 
 
  

 





 

  

  
    COMMUNITY SERVICES & ENVIRONMENT COMMISSION 

EOC Room  
175 First Street West 
Sonoma, CA 95476 

 
May 11, 2016 

 DRAFT Minutes 
  

Commissioners Present:   Comms. Petlock-Chairman, Allebach, Brown, Cook, Harrington, 
Pollack, and Rateaver 

 
Commissioners Absent:  Comms. Wilbanks and Hutzel 
 
Also Present:    Public Works Administrative Manager Wall 
     Associate Planner Atkins 
     Special Events Manager Janson 
     Honorable Mayor Gallian  
     Lauren Casey, Deputy Director of RCPA 
     Hit the Road Jack: Gary Johnson and Mark Aiton 
     Lynn Clary, Sonoma Resident 
     Ellen Fetty, Sonoma Resident 
     Lisa Summers, Sonoma Resident 
              

Chair Petlock called the meeting to order at 6:32 P.M.   
 
1.  Approval of the Minutes from April 13, 2016 
It was moved by Comm. Pollack and seconded by Comm. Brown to approve the minutes of  
April 13, 2016. The motion carried unanimously. 
 
2. Exception to the 120 day submittal deadline—Hit the Road Jack on June 5, 2016 
It was moved by Comm. Brown and seconded by Comm. Pollack to approve the exception to the 
120 day submittal deadline for the Hit the Road Jack event. The CSEC voted 7-0 (with two 
commissioners absent) to approve the exception. 

 
3. Event Review 

3a.  Hit the Road Jack—June 5, 2016 
It was moved by Comm. Brown and seconded by Comm. Pollack to grant an exception to 
have the Hit the Road Jack event on the same weekend as another event. The CSEC 
voted 7-0 (with two commissioners absent) to approve the exception. 

It was moved by Comm. Harrington and seconded by Comm. Cook to approve the Hit the 
Road Jack event application for 2016 subject to the Conditions of Approval. The CSEC 
voted 7-0 (with two commissioners absent) to approve the application.  

 
4. Subcommittee Reports 

a. Tree Committee (Standing Subcommittee). An alternate Commissioner still needs to be 
elected for this committee. 

 

Agenda Item #1



Community Services & Environment Commission: DRAFT Minutes                                                             May 11, 2016 
 

 2 

5. Climate Action 2020 Plan Discussion  
The City of Sonoma staff lead for the Climate Action 2020 Plan, Associate Planner Atkins, 
presented an overview of the Draft Plan with assistance from Deputy Director of the Regional 
Climate Protection Authority, Lauren Casey. After discussion and public testimony, the CSEC 
voted 7-0 (with two commissioners absent) for the City to approve the CA2020 Plan and add all 
local measures not currently included (Council to determine the individual participation rate of 
each measure) to achieve a mix of 10% local contributions to climate action programs to reduce 
greenhouse gas emissions. The CSEC also recommends that the City Council require 
compliance for all measures related to transportation and building sectors.  
 
6. Plaza Park Restrooms Proposal Review 
Comm. Pollack presented the CSEC’s proposal and scope of work for the Plaza Park restrooms. 
Comm. Pollack will finalize and submit the documentation to the City Manager, Carol Giovanatto, 
at least one week prior to the City’s budget workshop currently scheduled for June 9th, 2016.  
 
7. Discussion of City Staff Resources 
The CSEC reviewed their use of City staff resources. 
 
8. Future Agenda Items 
The following items will be placed on the June 8, 2016 meeting agenda: 

• Farmer’s Market Discussion (requested by Comm. Harrington) 
• Special Events Budget Template Discussion (requested by Comm. Allebach) 
• Overview of the Sonoma County Library (requested by Comm. Brown) 
• Review of Sonoma Overlook Trail Maintenance Proposals (requested by Comm. 

Allebach) 
 
9. Commissioner and staff Comments 
 
Chair Petlock adjourned the meeting at 9:00 P.M. The next regular meeting is scheduled for 
Wednesday, June 8, 2016 at 6:30 P.M. 
 

Respectfully submitted,  
__________________________ 
Katherine Wall, Public Works Administrative Manager  











































































































































Agenda Item #5









Agenda Item #6.a









MEMORANDUM 
 Date: June 8, 2016 

 TO: Community Services and Environment Commission 

 FROM: Katherine Wall, Public Works Administrative Manager  

 SUBJ: Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Recommendations Regarding a SSCA Penglai 
Committee Pavilion    

═════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════════ 

Background 
On March 7, 2016, the City Council conceptually approved a request from the Sonoma Sister Cities Association to create a 
pavilion to honor the Chinese contribution to the wine industry.  

At this time, the City Council would like the CSEC to review the request to create this pavilion or “Ting” structure in Depot Park at 
the location where the gazebo structure previously existed. If the CSEC supports the request, a motion could be made to 
recommend that the City Council approve the project. It should be noted that the final project would return to City Council for 
approval. 

Recommended Commission Action:  
Commission discretion.  

 

Attachments: 

1. City Council Agenda Item 7A from the meeting of March 7, 2016. 
2. Minutes from the March 7, 2016, City Council meeting. 
3. Project Design Sheets 

 

Cc: Peggy Phelan, via email 

 

Agenda Item #7





 

 

City of Sonoma 
City Council 

Agenda Item Summary 

 
City Council Agenda Item: 

 
Meeting Date: 

 
7A 
 
03/07/2016 

 
Department 

Public Works 
Staff Contact  

Dan Takasugi, Public Works Director / City Engineer 
Agenda Item Title 

Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Action to Grant Conceptual Approval to Create a 
Monument in Honor of the Chinese Contribution to the Wine Industry 

Summary 

The Sonoma-Penglai Sister City Committee would like to create a monument to honor the Chinese 
contribution to the wine industry.  The Committee has requested approval to place the monument in 
Depot Park (at the location where the gazebo structure previously existed) and is seeking 
conceptual approval for the project.  Committee members have been meeting with various City staff 
members regarding the monument placement, maintenance concerns, and long-term maintenance 
responsibilities.  The Committee has been advised, the first step in the process is to seek Council 
conceptual approval for placement of the monument in Depot Park.  If Council grants this conceptual 
approval, the project could move forward for review with the Community Services and Environment 
Commission and the City Facilities Committee.  Once reviewed, the project would come back to the 
City Council for final approval.  In addition, the Committee would be required to enter into a long-
term maintenance agreement and meet all permitting and insurance requirements of the City. 

Recommended Council Action 

Conceptual Approval of the Monument and Refer Review to the Community Services and 
Environment Commission and the Facilities Committee. 

Alternative Actions 

Council discretion. 
Financial Impact 

The maintenance agreement will ensure that the City not incur any financial impacts as a result of 
the installation of the monument. 

Environmental Review Status 

   Environmental Impact Report    Approved/Certified 
   Negative Declaration    No Action Required 
   Exempt    Action Requested 
   Not Applicable  
Attachments: 

Letter from the Sonoma-Penglai Sister City Committee including example images and conceptual 
drawings of the proposed monument. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Alignment with Council Goals:   

Supports the City Character Goal to preserve, promote and celebrate the unique characteristics of 
Sonoma; encourage the incorporation of our history into City, community and business identities. 

cc: 

Sonoma-Penglai Sister City Committee 
 



January 14, 2016 
 
 
TO:     Sonoma City Council 
 
FROM:   Sonoma Sister City Committee – Penglai, China 
  Peggy Phelan, Chair 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM:   Use vacant space across from Restroom Building to create a 

Ting memorializing the Chinese contribution to the wine industry.   
 
In late 2014 the Sonoma City Council approved a site next to the Depot Museum for a 
monument to honor the Chinese Contribution to the wine industry.  At that time, the 
Department of Public Works asked us to consider the vacant circle across from the 
Bathroom Building in Depot Park.   Upon further review, that is the preferred site and we 
seek City Council approval for this location. 
 
The Sonoma-Penglai Committee would like to create a Ting (resting place) in this 
location.  In the spirit of friendship, the people of Penglai, China have generously offered 
to donate all materials for the creation of this space.   
 
We seek your approval to proceed with our plan. 
 
Design Notes 
 

 To be a replica of Ting in our sister city Penglai, at a smaller scale (see attached 
photo). 

 
 Materials:  To be provided by the City of Penglai.  Focus will be on low 

maintenance and durability. 
 

 Will feature rocks with inscription (in both English and Chinese), telling the 
historical story of Chinese contribution to the wine industry (see attached photo). 

 
 Designed by licensed structural engineer.   

 
 Ramp from one side for ADA access. 

 
 Engineering and Construction costs through fundraising, no cost to City. 



Preferred Site



Image of Ting in Penglai, China 

ADA Ramp  2 inch concrete platform Inscribed large rock at entry 

The goal is to create a small scale Sister replica of this Ting. 

Approx. 11 ft floor to bottom of roof Wine themed scroll 

14 ft Wide 

Overhead lighting for security 

21 ft Tall 



Sample of  inscribed rock





March, 7, 2016, Page 1 of 4 

    
    
      

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OPENING 
 
Mayor Gallian called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  Robert Demler led the Pledge of 
Allegiance. 
 
CITY COUNCILMEMBERS PRESENT:  Hundley, Cook, Agrimonti, Edwards and Mayor Gallian 
ABSENT:  None 
 
OTHERS PRESENT:  Assistant City Manager/City Clerk Johann, City Attorney Walter, Planning 
Director Goodison, Public Works Director Takasugi 
 
1. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC - None 
 
2. MEETING DEDICATIONS - None 
 
3. PRESENTATIONS – None 
 
4. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL 
 
Item 4A: Waive Further reading and Authorize Introduction and/or Adoption of 

Ordinances by Title Only.  
Item 4B: Approval of the allocation of a City funded rental at the Sonoma Veteran’s 

Memorial Building as requested by the Sonoma Community Center.  
Removed from Consent, see below. 

Item 4C: Approval and ratification of the reappointment of Christopher Woodcock to 
the Traffic Safety Committee for a term ending March 4, 2020. 

Item 4D: Approval of the minutes of the January 20, February 1, and February 17, 
2016 City Council meetings. 

Item 4E: Amendment to the conditions of approval for the Tillem Vacation Rentals, 
located at 162-166 West Spain Street, removing the requirement to 
construct a decorative finial. 

 
Clm. Agrimonti removed Item 4B.  The public comment period was opened and closed with 
none received.  It was moved by Clm. Edwards, seconded by Clm. Cook, to approve the items 
remaining on the Consent Calendar.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
Item 4B: Approval of the allocation of a City funded rental at the Sonoma Veteran’s 

Memorial Building as requested by the Sonoma Community Center.   
 
Clm. Agrimonti reported that the Trashion Fashion Show had outgrown the Community Center 
which was why they moved it to the Veteran’s Building.  It was moved by Clm. Edwards, 
seconded by Clm. Agrimonti, to approve Item 4B.  The motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

CONCURRENT REGULAR MEETINGS OF THE 
SONOMA CITY COUNCIL 

& 
SONOMA CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY TO THE 

DISSOLVED SONOMA COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 

Community Meeting Room, 177 First Street West, Sonoma CA 
 

Monday March 7, 2016 
6:00 p.m. 

**** 
MINUTES 

City Council 
Laurie Gallian, Mayor 

Madolyn Agrimonti, MPT 
David Cook, 

Gary Edwards 
Rachel Hundley 

 



March, 7, 2016, Page 2 of 4 

5. CONSENT CALENDAR/AGENDA ORDER – CITY COUNCIL AS SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY 

 
Item 5A: Approval of the portions of the minutes of the January 20, 2016, February 1 

and February 17, 2016 City Council meetings pertaining to the Successor 
Agency. 

 
The public comment period opened and closed with none received.  It was moved by Clm. 
Agrimonti, seconded by Clm. Cook, to approve the Consent Calendar.  The motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
6. PUBLIC HEARING – None Scheduled 
 
7. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL 
 
Item 7A: Discussion, Consideration, and Possible Action to Grant Conceptual 

Approval to Create a Monument in Honor of the Chinese Contribution to the 
Wine Industry. 

 
Public Works Director Takasugi reported that the Sonoma-Penglai Sister City Committee were 
proposing a monument to honor the Chinese contribution to the wine industry, consisting of a 
Chinese “Ting” [gazebo-type structure].  The committee requested approval to place the 
monument in Depot Park at the location where a gazebo structure previously existed and was 
seeking conceptual approval of the project by the City Council.  Takasugi stated that staff had 
met with Committee members to go over monument placement, maintenance concerns, and 
long-term maintenance responsibilities.  Should Council grant conceptual approval, the project 
would move forward for review by the Community Services and Environment Commission and 
the City Facilities Committee.  Once reviewed, the project would come back to the City Council 
for final approval. Takasugi added that the Committee would be required to enter into a long-
term maintenance agreement and meet all permitting and insurance requirements of the City. 
 
Peggy Phelan stated that the Committee felt the Ting was an appropriate monument to 
recognize the Chinese farm laborers of the nineteenth century and their contribution in 
establishment of Sonoma Valley’s wine industry; would educate residents and visitors about this 
forgotten piece of Sonoma’s history; and would attract tourists from China while enhancing 
Sonoma’s small town character with a historic monument.  She added that Penglai would 
donate all the construction materials. 
 
Lynne Joiner stated that the Chinese had been forgotten and spoke about the exclusion of 
Asians from California’s history. She stated that the committee would raise all funds necessary 
for installation of the Ting. 
 
Clm. Edwards confirmed that the Chinese had dug the caves at Buena Vista winery.  Clm. 
Agrimonti pointed out a section of the book The Sonoma Valley Story by Bob Lynch included a 
section regarding the Chinese. 
 
Mayor Gallian invited comments from the public.  City Historian George McKale said it would be 
a marvelous monument to the Chinese and he pointed out that there were several Chinese 
establishments depicted on the very early maps of Sonoma.  
 
It was moved by Clm. Edwards, seconded by Clm. Hundley, to grant conceptual approval of the 
project.  The motion carried unanimously.  Clm. Edwards pledged six months of his City Council 
salary for the project.   
 
Item 7B: Discussion, consideration, and possible direction concerning the 

demolition of the Maysonnave Cottage (289 First Street West).   
 
Planning Director Goodison provided the history and background regarding this agenda item.  
He presented Council with several options and added that staff was recommending that the 
proposed demolition of the cottage be referred to the Design Review and Historic Preservation 
Commission for consideration. 
 
Mayor Gallian confirmed through City Attorney Walter that although the Council, by a three to 
two vote, had previously voted to demolish the cottage they could decide to proceed in another 
direction.  She then invited comments from the public. 
 



March, 7, 2016, Page 3 of 4 

Item 7B: Discussion, consideration, and possible direction concerning the 
demolition of the Maysonnave Cottage (289 First Street West), Continued 

 
Isac Gutfreund, owner of Bungalows 313, stated he would be interested in partnering with the 
City in renovation of the structure and conversion to a vacation rental subject to certain 
conditions. 
 
Robert Demler, President of the Sonoma League for Historic Preservation, asked the Council to 
delay making a decision until September to allow the League additional time to come up with a 
viable solution. 
 
Patricia Cullinan stated that it was her belief that the cottage was eligible for listing on the 
California Register and she requested that a new Historic Resource Evaluation be prepared to 
assess its potential historic significance. 
 
Joe Costello questioned a portion of the Gutfreund proposal regarding special events. 
 
Jack Wagner, Vic Conforti, George McKale and Gina Cuclis spoke in support of keeping the 
cottage. 
 
Planning Director Goodison responded to Costello’s inquiry regarding special events by 
explaining that there was no entitlement to Bungalows 313 for special events but that they could 
apply for a permit allowing up to two events per year. 
 
Clm. Hundley stated her support for conducting an engineering and code analysis to assist 
anyone interested in making a proposal for renovation of the cottage. 
 
Clm. Agrimonti expressed frustration about “kicking the can down the road”.  She stated that the 
Council had made a decision and now that it was time to take action people were coming up 
with new ideas and proposals. 
 
Clm. Cook confirmed his continued belief that the cottage should be demolished. 
 
Clm. Edwards stated his support for a six month continuance. 
 
Mayor Gallian agreed with Clm. Hundley. 
 
It was moved by Clm. Hundley, seconded by Edwards, to direct staff to perform a cost analysis 
and cultural resource evaluation at a cost not to exceed $25,000.  The motion carried three to 
two, Councilmembers Cook and Agrimonti cast the dissenting votes. 
 
Item 7C: Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action on a First Reading of an 

Ordinance to Regulate and Prohibit the Use of Leaf Blowers Within the City 
Limits. 

 
Assistant City Manager Johann reported that staff had incorporated the direction provided by 
Council at their last meeting into the draft ordinance.  The major provisions of the ordinance 
included:  1) Gas Powered Leafblowers would not be allowed within the City of Sonoma at any 
time.  “Gas-powered leaf blower” means any leaf blower, leaf vacuum or other leaf-gathering 
device directly powered by an internal combustion or rotary engine using gasoline, alcohol or 
other liquid or gaseous fluid.  Lawn mowers, lawn edgers and electrically-powered leaf blowers 
were not included in the definition.  2) Allowable leafblowers could be operated Monday-
Saturday 9:00 a.m. - 4:00 p.m. except on City holidays.  3) The operation of leaf blowers must 
comply with the noise ordinance, including the decibel limits applicable to residential power 
equipment.  4) Leafblowers should not be operated in a manner that directed dust and debris 
onto any neighboring parcel or a public street.  5) Both the property owner or tenant and the 
landscaper would be subject to the penalty provisions under the ordinance. The fine that is 
imposed for violation of the ordinance will depend upon whether the violation is prosecuted as 
an infraction, misdemeanor or administratively; and 6) The ordinance would be enforced 
commencing July 1, 2016.   
 
Mayor Gallian invited comments from the public. 
 
The following persons expressed their appreciation to the City Council and their support of the 
ordinance:  Sarah Ford, Patricia Cullinan, Mara Lee Ebert, Bob Edwards and Georgia Kelly.  
 
 
 



March, 7, 2016, Page 4 of 4 

Item 7C: Discussion, Consideration and Possible Action on a First Reading of an 
Ordinance to Regulate and Prohibit the Use of Leaf Blowers Within the City 
Limits, Continued 

 
It was moved by Clm. Agrimonti, seconded by Clm. Cook, to introduce the ordinance entitled AN 
ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF SONOMA ADDING CHAPTER 9.60 
TO THE SONOMA MUNICIPAL CODE TO REGULATE AND PROHIBIT THE USE OF LEAF 
BLOWERS WITHIN THE CITY’S LIMITS.  The motion carried three to two; Councilmembers 
Edwards and Hundley cast the dissenting votes.  Assistant City Manager Johann stated that the 
ordinance would be on the consent calendar of the next agenda for second reading and 
adoption.   
 
8. REGULAR CALENDAR – CITY COUNCIL AS THE SUCCESSOR AGENCY 
 
9. COUNCILMEMBERS’ REPORTS AND COMMENTS 
 
Clm. Hundley reported on the SVCAC meeting and announced that she had requested a joint 
meeting with the Planning Commission for discussion regarding housing issues. 
 
Clm. Agrimonti reported she had revitalized the Cemetery Committee and announced the 
Sonoma Valley Connect forum sponsored by Supervisor Gorin. 
 
Clm. Edwards reported on the Health Action meeting and announced that the annual production 
of Every 15 Minutes would occur at the high school this week. 
 
Mayor Gallian reported on the Water TAC meeting and the LocalFest sponsored by the 
Chamber. 
 
10. CITY MANAGER COMMENTS AND ANNOUNCEMENTS INCLUDING 

ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM SUCCESSOR AGENCY STAFF 
 
Assistant City Manager Johann announced the March 24 Alcalde reception, the City’s receipt of 
the Mariano Vallejo Government Award, commission vacancies and upcoming Council meeting 
details. 
 
11. COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC  
 
Bob Edwards thanked City staff for all their work on the leafblower issue. 
 
Patricia Cullinan announced that, through a grant, the Historical Society would be conducting 
GIS mapping of the Mountain Cemetery. 
 
12. ADJOURNMENT 
 
The meeting was adjourned at 7:43 p.m. 
 
I HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing minutes were duly and regularly adopted at a regular 
meeting of the Sonoma City Council on the 21st day of March 2016. 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Gay Johann 
Assistant City Manager / City Clerk 
 
 
 







The  Sonoma Overlook Trail Rehabilitation Project
5/27/2016

CSEC Meeting Goal:  The Sonoma Overlook Stewards want to make you aware 
of our plans, address any concerns you may have and welcome any additional 
input you might offer to help us accomplish our goals.

Your package consists of:

1 Sonoma Overlook Trail (SOT) Project Rationale

2 SOT Mission Statement

3 Options and Estimated Costs For Improving the Sustainability of the 
Sonoma Overlook Trail System (includes Map)

4 Sequence of Steps For SOT Stewards to Apply For Grant Funding of 
Long Term Trail Improvements 

5 SOT Evaluation Summary Report 

6 Detailed Report by Don Beers

Page �1

Agenda Item #9





1  SONOMA OVERLOOK TRAIL PROJECT RATIONALE

The Sonoma Overlook Trail (SOT), just 2 blocks north of the plaza, is a popular 3 mile 
loop hike through oak forest and savanna grassland terrain, providing beautiful valley 
views and is on land owned by  the City of Sonoma.  The Trail was constructed 
approximately 15 years ago primarily by spirited volunteers and continues to be 
maintained by a group of volunteers, The Sonoma Overlook Stewards. 

The volunteer SOT Stewards maintain the trail, educate the public about the history, 
flora and fauna of the trail with brochures, offer docent guided hikes for schools and 
raise funds for all of these services.

Although we do our best to keep up with trail maintenance at minimum cost, erosion of 
the Trail due to weather, increasing usage and increasing trip hazards are outstripping 
our capabilities.    The trail as it was originally designed, was for relatively low 
pedestrian use.  Now daily averages range from 140 people during the weekdays to 450 
people during the weekends.  Double on holidays  (estimates confirmed by trail count 
this year).

In 2015, we decided to seek a professional evaluation of the entire Trail to develop a 
long term plan for a sustainable trail.  We were fortunate to obtain the services of well 
respected and experienced  Don Beers, Trail Designer of the Montini and many other 
Western Trails.  Don provided his services free of charge, a $5800 saving, and made 
recommendations for future repairs, improvements, and maintenance activities.

Based on Don’s recommendations: The project would consist of: 
Trail tread maintenance,  Trail tread reconstruction, and Trail reroutes.

We intend to determine options, obtain funding and implement plans for a sustainable 
Sonoma Overlook Trail. 

Page �2



2   SONOMA OVERLOOK TRAIL STEWARDS - MISSION STATEMENT
Approved April 20, 2005; Revised January 2011 

The Mission of the Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards is to foster  
1) sustainable enjoyment of Sonoma’s open space through walking/hiking outdoor 
recreation, 2) environmental awareness and stewardship through docent-led hikes and 
interpretive trail materials, 3) ongoing trail maintenance  
and restoration/rehabilitation of previously damaged sections of the Sonoma Overlook 
Trail property, and 4) expansion and linkage of the trail through adjoining properties. 

1) Recreation – We support sustainable use of Sonoma’s open space by providing a 
usable, well-maintained trail for use by walkers, hikers and joggers. Visitors may enjoy 
Sonoma’s native flora and fauna while recreating at their own pace. 

2) Education – Environmental education is a priority because an environmentally aware 
public is supportive of preservation and gentle use of our open spaces. Important topics 
include native flora and fauna, the web of life, geology, and archeology. 

3) Restoration and Protection – Trail improvement projects correct damage caused by 
earlier misuse of the hillside and control invasive weeds. We supervise volunteer trail 
monitors and organize volunteer work days to provide ongoing protection and 
maintenance of the Trail. 

4) Expansion and Linkage – We will monitor the development of the regional outdoor 
recreation area with the long term goal of developing additional, linked trails on 
adjoining properties. 

The Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards have lead responsibility for the above Mission 
Statement and its fulfillment. The Stewards work in cooperation with local institutions – 
especially with the Sonoma Ecology Center in its effort to promote sustainable ecological 
health in the Sonoma Valley. Others partners include the City of Sonoma and The Hanna 
Boys Center.  

Sonoma Overlook Trail Task Force–A Brief History 
Members of the City of Sonoma’s Environmental Advisory Commission formed the 
Mountain Cemetery Trail Task Force in 1999. The Task Force included representatives of 
the CA State Parks, Sonoma Ecology Center, Sonoma Valley Chamber of Commerce, 
Sonoma Valley Trails Coalition, the Hillside Preservation Alliance, and other groups. A 
naming contest changed the project’s name to the Sonoma Overlook Trail (SOT).  

The Task Force raised funds for construction of the SOT, hired the contractor, and 
oversaw the construction of the trail. The Task Force has evolved into a smaller group of 
active trail supporters, now known as the Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards  who make 
possible: 1) the SOT educational function through its docent program and interpretive 
brochures and signage, 2) trail maintenance and improvements, and 3) fundraising to 
support all SOT issues. 

Page �3



#3      OPTIONS & ESTIMATED COSTS FOR
IMPROVING THE SUSTAINABILTY OF THE 

SONOMA OVERLOOK TRAIL SYSTEM
[Provided to SOT Stewards by Don Beers, 

Calif. State Parks Trail Designer, March 18, 2016]

OPTIONS
GOV’t

YOUTH
CORPS

PRIVATE
TRAIL

CONTRACTOR

OPTION 1:  REHABILITATE ALL THE 
EXISTING SOT TRAIL (tread, with 
steps, switchbacks, waterbars, etc.)

  $142,947   $249,452

OPTION 2:  LOWER TRAIL REROUTE, 
+ TRAIL REMOVAL, 
+ TRAIL REHAB TO TOYON
 [Map: B to Toyon]
          (Phase 1)

  $106,327   $148,707

OPTION 3:  LOWER TRAIL REROUTE, 
+ TRAIL REMOVAL, + TRAIL REHAB
TO TOYON & REMAINING SOT 
[Map: B to Toyon + E thru Upper Loop]

  $205,994  $306,940

OPTION 4: UPPER TRAIL REROUTE, 
+ TRAIL REMOVAL, + TRAIL REHAB

OF REMAINING SOT & TOYON
    [Map: E thru Upper Loop]

(Phase 2)

  $184,429  $286,630

OPTION 2 + OPTION 4:
(Phase 1) + (Phase 2)

 $290,756  $435,337

Note: Cost estimates include labor, material, trail amenities, and project 
inspection costs.

Draft by John Donnelly, SOT Steward









# 4                            SEQUENCE OF STEPS

                                                 FOR
        SONOMA OVERLOOK TRAIL STEWARDS TO APPLY FOR GRANT     
               FUNDING OF  LONG-TERM TRAIL IMPROVEMENTS*

1.  See: “Options & Estimated Costs for Improving the Sustainability of 
the Sonoma Overlook Trail System” summarizing SOT evaluation and 
recommendations by Don Beers, Trail Designer.   Also, see SOT Map.

2. Community Services & Environment Commission:  Present a summary
of long-term SOT plan options and overall rationale for seeking grant
proposals.

3. City Planner requests City Council to fund environmental reviews
needed only for the two options involving SOT re-route with  new
segments. 
(Environmental review for wetlands, animals, archeology)

4.  Conduct environmental reviews as needed.

5.     Stewards agree on priority of trail improvement options and identify 
grant funding sources for application.

6. Sonoma Ecology Center: Determine terms for making SOT grant
applications and funding with SEC.

7. Department of Public Works: Check that proposed grant projects will 
satisfy City codes, encroachment permit processes, etc. 

8.      Submit non-City grant funding proposals to Council for approval to 
apply.

9.   Apply for grants for conditional approval.   Specific requirements of
grantors may require prior establishment of Conservation Easement,
and perhaps a Recreational Covenant on the SOT.

10.    If needed for grant application approval, obtain Conservation 
Easement and/or Recreational Covenant for SOT. 

11.   Submit grant applications.

12.   Implement successful grant-funded projects.

____________________________________

* Proposed sequence of steps developed at an April 12, 2016 meeting 
with David Goodison, City Planner, and Joanna Kemper, Fred Allebach, 
John Donnelly.



1 
 

Joanna Kemper 
Chair, Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards 
 
March 18, 2016 

 
Dear Joanna, 
 
At the request of the Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards, I evaluated the Sonoma 
Overlook Trail System in February of 2016.  The purpose of this evaluation was to 
assess the existing Overlook Trail and Toyon Trail to determine their present condition 
and make recommendations for future repairs, improvements, and maintenance 
activities. These recommendations would provide the impetus of a five year 
improvement plan for the Sonoma Overlook Trail System. 

Prior to performing the field work I reviewed the background information on the Sonoma 
Overlook Trail provided by the Trail Stewards. This included topographic and Google 
Earth maps, rainfall data, CEQA documents for the trail’s construction, plant and cultural 
resource inventories and property maps. 

On Monday February 15th I met with you, Fred Allebach and John Donnelly to inventory 
the Overlook Trail System, discuss its history, designated use, current conditions, user 
issues, safety concerns and maintenance requirements. We also discussed a variety of 
deficiencies with trail system and their root causes. This day was very beneficial to me 
and I learned a lot about the trail system and its physical, social and political issues. 
During the next two days I worked on developing potential trail reroutes, rehabilitation 
prescriptions, and trail segment removals. I also formulated options for improvements to 
the Sonoma Overlook Trail system. This involved identifying the most problematic trail 
segments, the most sustainable trail segments, flagging proposed reroutes and 
developing trail construction prescriptions, work logs and cost estimates for these 
segments and alignments. In this effort I was assisted by you, Fred Allebach, John 
Donnelly, Lynn Clary, and Rich Gibson. This assistance was extremely helpful and 
appreciated. All of you were a pleasure to work with.  

Sonoma Overlook Trail System Overview 

The Sonoma Overlook Trail traverses the Mountain Cemetery property, north of the 
cemetery grounds, through oak forest and savanna grassland terrain and is owned by 
the City of Sonoma. It was constructed approximately 15 years ago. The design and 
construction of the Overlook Trail System was undertaken by a spirited and dedicated 
group of local volunteers with the aid of a trail contractor. This trail begins at the bottom 
of Schocken Hill near the entrance to the cemetery and climbs to an overlook area that 
provides outstanding views of the City of Sonoma, the surrounding hills and San 
Francisco Bay (see figure A and B). The Sonoma Overlook trail is 7,693 feet long 
including a loop segment that encircles the overlook. The Toyon Trail spurs off of the 
Overlook Trail and terminates at the cemetery. It is 1,016 feet long. 

The designated user group of the Sonoma Overlook Trail System is pedestrians. Most 
of the users are from the local community and they range from casual hikers seeking 
the tranquility of the peaceful environment to trail runners getting in a daily workout. This 
trail system is also used by visitors from the greater San Francisco Bay Area and by 



2 
 

tourist visiting Sonoma County. The users also appear to be very diverse in terms of 
ethnicity and age. Although trail use data has not been gathered for this trail system; 
trail steward’s estimate that its daily use ranges from 150 people during the weekdays 
to 300 people during the weekends. These numbers double during holidays.  Given this 
type and level of use the mechanical wear level to this trail is moderate. Most pedestrian 
trails would fall into the low mechanical wear rate but the high numbers of trail runners 
using this trail system increase the rate of mechanical wear. 

 

Figure A Sonoma Overlook Trail System 



3 
 

 

 

Figure B View From Overlook Area 

The savanna grassland plant community that these trails traverse has predominantly 
thin soil horizons on top of underlying bedrock. These conditions when combined with 
even moderate amounts of rainfall result in a high coefficient of runoff. Rain falling on 
the ground is absorbed into the thin soil layer where it quickly encounters the 
impermeable underlying bedrock. Once these soils reach their maximum absorption, 
rain water begins to flow overland in the form of sheetflow. In addition, the water that is 
intercepted by the underlying bedrock begins to flow along the bedrock downslope until 
it emerges where the bedrock protrudes through the soil or until it reaches the bottom of 
the slope and emerges in the form of a spring or seep. When present, these conditions 
can greatly affect a trail’s sustainability.  
 
The oak woodland plant communities have a deeper soil profile and a protective layer of 
organic material (duff). These soils have greater water absorption capabilities and 
greater resistance to mechanical wear. The forest canopy also reduces the impact of 
rain drops and the leaf litter cushions the trail tread and helps retain soil moisture during 
the dry seasons. These characteristics enhance the sustainability of a trail.  
 

 

 



4 
 

Trail Evaluation Criterion 

The primary goal for any trail is to be sustainable. However the term “sustainable” is 
often used without a clear definition of what it is. The definition for sustainable applied to 
this project is as follows: 

Sustainable Trails are: 
 
1. Designed and constructed so they do not adversely affect natural and cultural 
resources. Any impact considered “take” is avoided, and in areas considered 
“sensitive,” impacts are mitigated through planning and environmental review. 
 
2. Designed and constructed to not disrupt or alter the natural hydraulic flow patterns of 
the landform. Sheetflow runoff is not diverted or accumulated, and runoff is allowed to 
continue on its normal flow path. Drainages, including micro-drainages, are not 
captured, diverted, or coupled with other drainages by the trail. Water does not 
accumulate on the trail and does not drain onto the landform where natural drainages 
do not exist. 
 
3. Designed and constructed to withstand the impacts of the intended user and the 
natural elements while receiving only routine cyclic maintenance.  
 
4. Designed and constructed to withstand the impact of 25 to 100 year storm events. 
The trail tread and structures are minimally affected by these events. This includes 
impact above or below the trail alignment that is not attributed to the alignment. These 
types of impact are anticipated and avoided through good planning and design. 
 
5. Designed to meet the needs of the intended user group or groups. A high level of 
satisfaction results in users staying on the designated trail alignment and not creating 
unauthorized or volunteer trails. User satisfaction also results in the continued use of 
the trail. 
 
Trail Standards 

The trail standards applied to this trail evaluation and design project are those used by 
the California State Park System. These standards were applied when performing the 
existing trail evaluation, reconnaissance, corridor identification, trail alignment 
identification, flagging, reconstruction, and construction and trail removal prescriptions, 
work logs, cost estimates, contract specifications and working drawings 

Maximum Sustainable Grade 

Given the goals for the trail system and the trail standards applied the design process 
began by identifying the maximum sustainable grade limits of the landform that the 
existing and proposed trails would be traversing. The maximum sustainable linear grade 
is a linear trail grade which, when combined with proper layout and construction, will 
result in a trail bed that requires only routine maintenance and will not threaten 
resources, even when subjected to severe weather conditions or heavy use. All trails 
require some level of maintenance. However, a sustainable trail should be expected to 



5 
 

perform its intended purpose without the need for non-cyclic maintenance and not be 
subject to catastrophic failures during significant storm events. 
 
Establishing the Maximum Sustainable Linear Grade 
 
The following describes the variables that were evaluated in order to establish the 
maximum sustainable trail grade. 
 
Specific Trail Design Standards 
These are the specific standards the land agency has for various user groups or trail 
classes. These standards may conflict with or enhance the maximum sustainable grade 
standards. Establishing maximum sustainable grade standards and comparing these to 
specific design standards, can identify potential conflicts or benefits. The designed trail 
width, linear trail grade, cross slope grade, and surfacing requirements will have a 
negative or positive influence on the maximum sustainable grade limit. Wider trail 
surfaces require larger fills and fuller benches on gentle hillslopes, and higher cutbanks 
on steeper hillslopes. These variables, (based on the percent of hillslope) influence trail 
route selection. Trail surfacing can improve traction and armor the parent soils, as well 
as allow for steeper linear grades. Cross-slope standards affect sheet flow efficiency 
and also influence trail tread performance.  
 
User Group, User Interaction with Trail and Level of Use 
Trail user types, their interaction with the trail tread and the level of use affect the rate of 
mechanical wear to the trail tread and the trail’s sustainability. There are different rates 
of potential mechanical wear associated with each user group. The rate of mechanical 
wear must be considered when identifying the maximum sustainable grade. The amount 
of use a trail receives also affects the rate of wear; the higher the use, the greater the 
amount of wear that occurs. This factor must also be considered when determining the 
maximum sustainable grade. 
 
Soil Strength and Durability 
This involves evaluating the parent soils, including percentage of rock aggregate, 
percentage of fractured rock surfaces, rock size, gradation, and hardness, and percent 
of clay in the rock-soil matrix. Soils that have a high percentage of aggregate with 
fractured faces and a good gradation in sizes will lock together well when mixed with a 
moderate amount of clay. This soil type has higher strength and durability 
characteristics. Soil with low amounts of aggregate, minimal gradation in rock sizes, 
round rock faces or a high percentage of clay has lower soil strength and durability 
characteristics. The greater the strength and durability, the more linear grade the trail 
can sustain. Soil characteristics often change over the length of a trail alignment, and 
linear grades need to be adjusted accordingly.  
 
Annual Rainfall 
The amount of annual rainfall affects performance of the trail bed. High levels of rainfall 
can result in soil saturation and weak soils, as well as deformation of the trail surface 
when subjected to user traffic. Generally, high annual rainfall influences the amount of 
linear grade a trail can sustain. High rainfall totals result in lower linear grades.  



6 
 

 
Rainfall Intensity 

The amount of rainfall that occurs during a short duration can affect the performance of a 
trail’s surface. This is especially true where the runoff coefficient is high due to upslope 
conditions such as the amount of exposed bed rock in the watershed, a lack of vegetative 
cover, road building and grazing activities and recent fire activity in the watershed. High 
rainfall amounts in a short period of time can generate a significant runoff response 
upslope which can impact drainage structures and trail surfaces. Drainage structures 
need to be designed and constructed to meet this response and the linear grades need to 
be adjusted to reduce the possibility of rilling caused by increased sheetflow. 
 
Canopy Cover 

Forest canopy cover helps protect the trail bed in several ways. It reduces the impact 
associated with rain drops falling directly on the trail surface. Each rain drop produces 
enough energy to dislodge small particles of soil. This affect not only dislodges and 
transports soil; it can break up the protective crust of the trail’s surface. The leaves and 
needles in the canopy absorb most of this impact and the leaves and needles on the trail 
surface protect soils that would be otherwise exposed. This organic layer on the trail 
surface also provides a cushion against the mechanical wear associated with tires, 
hooves and boots. Finally, the shade provided by the canopy and the organic layer on the 
trail’s surface helps retain the soil moisture in the trail bed during dry periods, therefore 
reducing the friability of the soils. This reduces soil erosion and maintains the integrity of 
the trail bed. The presence of canopy cover may improve the performance of trail 
surfaces and allow for increased linear grades. 
 
Percent of Hillslope 
The relationship between the grade of the hillslope and the linear grade of the trail is 
one of the most important factors in trail design. As the grade of the hillslope increases, 
the linear grade of the trail can also increase (up to the limits established by other 
variables discussed in this section). Correspondingly, as the grade of the hillslope 
decreases the linear grade of the trail also needs to decrease. When the linear grade of 
the trail begins to approach the grade of the hillslope, the trail begins to come into the 
(fall line) of the overland sheetflow coming off of the landform. Once this occurs the trail 
will capture the sheetflow and become a conveyance for water. The ratio of hillslope 
grade to linear trail grade varies, depending on the other variables. In some locations, a 
two to one ratio of hillslope to linear grade may be adequate, while in other locations a 
three to one ratio may not be enough. The relationship between the two grades is 
critical to the long-term sustainability of the trail. 
 
Location on the Hillslope 
Generally, the lower the trail alignment in the watershed, the more sheetflow and 
shallow groundwater the trail will encounter. This is a function of water accumulating 
from the landform area above the trail. The larger the surface area above the trail 
alignment, the greater the accumulation of sheetflow and shallow groundwater. The 
more water the trail encounters, the lower the linear grades it can sustain. In addition, 
trails at the bottom of watersheds usually will encounter less stable geology, as inner 



7 
 

gorge areas undergo more dynamic geomorphic processes. Trail alignments at higher 
elevations in the watershed usually can sustain higher linear grades. 
 
Season of Use 

Trails used year round need to be designed to compensate for the additional wear to the 
trail bed that occurs during the wet season. During this time of the year, water saturation 
weakens the trail bed soils and users are more likely to displace tread materials and 
cause deformities in the trail surface.  These holes and ruts trap or capture water, and 
lead to rapid deterioration of the trail bed. Typically, trails that are designated for use 
during the wet season need to have low use, excellent parent soils, be surfaced with a 
stabilizing material or have lower linear grades.  
 
Determining the Maximum Sustainable Grade 
 
Given these design parameters the process of identifying the maximum sustainable 
grade limits of the landform that the existing trail system is traversing was conducted. 
Rainfall data for this area indicated that the average annual rainfall was approximately 
29.5 inches. In 100 year storm events the rainfall can exceed 1 inch an hour.  So even 
though the average annual rainfall totals are moderate this area does experience 
periodically high amounts of rain. In evaluating the two plant communities within the trail 
system I came up with the following observations. 
 
In the oak woodland plant community the top soils were shallow in depth and had 
moderate amounts of clay. There were small amounts of fractured aggregate contained 
within these soils. The B horizon soils contained more fractured aggregate had better 
gradation and had higher concentrations of clay. Given the thinness of the top soil layer 
and the percent of hillslope, the trail bench is constructed primarily into the B horizon 
soils. The majority of the percent of hillslope in this community was between 20 and 40 
percent. The spacing of the oak trees and shrubs was such that good canopy cover was 
provided and there was moderate organic litter build up. This plant community was also 
located throughout the watershed and therefore would receive average concentrations 
of surface runoff and sub-surface flows. Given that the rate of mechanical wear is 
moderate the maximum sustainable linear grades in this area is 8 to10 percent. This 
linear grade could be increased by a percent or two when rocky soils are encountered. 
In some locations where the percent of hillslope was below 20% the linear grade was 
reduced to as low as 5 percent. At switchback locations the linear grades exceeded 10 
percent to provide separation but did not exceed 12 percent.  
 
In the savanna grassland plant community that these trails traverse there is a very thin 
layer of top soil and B horizon soil on top of underlying bedrock. These conditions when 
combined with even moderate amounts of rainfall result in a high coefficient of runoff. 
Rain falling on the ground is absorbed into the thin soil layer where it quickly encounters 
the impermeable underlying bedrock. Once these soils reach their maximum absorption, 
rain water begins to flow overland in the form of sheetflow. In addition, the water that is 
intercepted by the underlying bedrock begins to flow along the bedrock downslope until 
it emerges where the bedrock protrudes through the soil (trail cutbank) or until it 
reaches the bottom of the slope and emerges in the form of a spring or seep. These 



8 
 

plant communities also tended to be located on hillslopes less than 20 percent. When 
the percent of hillslope is less than 20 percent the maximum sustainable grade is 4 to 5 
percent. Constructing a trail on this type of soil condition is problematic and should be 
avoided if possible.  
 

Evaluation of the Existing Trail System 

After assessing the condition of the Sonoma Overlook Trail System it was apparent that 
there were several deficiencies in the initial design and construction of the trails. The 
trails did not closely follow curvilinear alignment creating fall line conditions that carry 
the sheetflow down the trail rather than across it (see figure C).   

 

 

Figure C Fall Line Alignment Causing Sheetflow to Run Down the Trail 

The trails often exceeded the maximum sustainable linear grade limit increasing 
mechanical wear and causing sheetflow to run down the trail (See Figure D).  

 

 



9 
 

  

Figure D Trail Segments Exceeding the Maximum Sustainable Grade Limit 

The trails were primarily located on the least capable ground (savanna grassland) 
resulting in poor trail tread performance and drainage problems (See Figure E). 

  

Figure E Trail Segments Constructed on Savanna Grassland with Low Capability 

There were several locations where there were sudden grade increases resulting in 
increased mechanical wear and trail treads degradation (See Figure F). 



10 
 

  

Figure F Sudden Grade Increases Causing Increased Mechanical Wear 

The switchbacks and climbing turns were not located to facilitate drainage off of the 
corner of the turns resulting in water being carried around the turn and down the trail 
causing erosion of the trail tread (See Figure G). The construction of the trails did not 
always produce a full bench, failed to lay back the cutbank to its angle of repose 

  

Figure G Climbing Turns with No Drainage off The Corner of the Turn 

When the trail was constructed (with a SWECO trail dozer) the cutbank was not laid 
back to its angle of repose. This resulted in the near vertical cutback collapsing and 
sluffing onto the trail tread. This sluff occupied approximately 1 foot of the trail tread. In 
addition, the trail tread’s outslope was insufficient to sheet the water across the trail 
resulting in water flowing down the trail and eroding the trail tread. Trail users adjusted 
to this encroachment of the trail tread by hiking on the outside edge of the trail. This 
increased the trail tread width to 5 foot instead of the designed 4 foot tread width (See 
Figure H). 



11 
 

  

Figure H Cutbank Sluffing onto Trail Tread and Increasing Tread Width 

The trail tread’s outslope was insufficient to sheet the water across the trail resulting in 
water flowing down the trail and eroding the trail tread. Once the trail tread began to 
degrade and the underlying rock was exposed the trail users continued to move further 
to the outside edge of the trail increasing it width further (See Figure I). 

  

Figure I Tread Width Increasing as Trail Users Move to Outside Edge of Trail 



12 
 

In summary the Overlook Trail System is unsustainable due to its poor initial design and 
construction. The most problematic segments in this trail system cannot be made 
sustainable due to their poor initial layout. These segments can be improved to where 
they are “not sustainable but maintainable” but any prescriptions to correct these 
segments will be transitory. They will always require more maintenance to keep them 
safe and functional. Most of these segments have already degraded to the point where 
the trail tread is largely comprised of exposed bedrock. The silver lining is that now that 
they have eroded to the underlying bedrock they will not erode significantly further as 
the bedrock is very resistant to mechanical wear and erosional processes. These 
segments are now relatively stable and should not be expected to change significantly 
in the near future (See Figure J).   

 

Figure J Unsustainable and Degraded Trail Segments  



13 
 

It should be noted that these deficiencies in the Sonoma Overlook Trail System are very 
common in trails throughout the United States. They are not a poor reflection on the 
people who vigorously championed the development of the trail system or the people 
who have invested their time and hearts into maintaining this system, it is a reflection on 
the current state of trail design and construction in this country.  

It should also be noted that there are several trail segments within this system that are 
preforming very well. In these segments the alignment is curvilinear, the linear trail 
grades are within the maximum sustainable limits and they are located on some of best 
performing terrain. These segments are good indications of how a trail can perform on 
this landform when good design principles are followed (See Figure K). 

  

Figure K Trail Segments in or at the edge of the Oak Forest with Good Soil 
Conditions, Curvilinear Alignment and are Within the Maximum Sustainable 
Linear Grades 

User Safety Issues 

After discussing user safety issues with the Overlook Trail Stewards it appears that trail 
user injuries occur on this trail system but are not a significant problem at this time. 
Most of the injuries are knee and ankle sprains or cuts and abrasions. These injuries 
can be attributed to the poor footing conditions found on the trails. Locations where 
there are protruding rocks in the trail tread can cause hikers to stumble or trip or twist 
their feet and legs. Locations where there is slick rock or loose aggregate on steep 
grades can cause hikers to slip and fall.  These locations are predominately where the 
trails are the most degraded (See Figure L). 



14 
 

 

Figure L Locations with the Most User Safety Concerns 

 



15 
 

 

Trail Reroutes 

After reviewing, evaluating and developing trail rehabilitation work logs for the existing 
trail system I explored the potential for trail reroutes around the most problematic trail 
segments. Prior to coming to Sonoma I developed hypothetical reroutes using mapping 
software. The Sunday before I met with you and the other the trail stewards I performed 
an initial reconnaissance of those reroutes and ground truthed their viability. There were 
two potential trail reroutes a lower and an upper reroute. These reroutes were flagged 
and had trail construction prescriptions and work logs developed for them. In the open 
terrain wire pin flags were used. In the oak woodland forest a combination of flagging 
tape and wire pin flags were used. These flags represent trail grade and the outside 
edge of the trail as the entire trail is to receive full bench construction. The entire 
alignment was tight flagged with the flag spacing being approximately 35 feet or less. In 
those sections of the reroutes that the public might see or come in contact with I 
replaced the pin flags and flagging tape with whiskers. These low profile trail markers 
are driven into the ground with 40 D nails. Hopefully they will not be seen or removed by 
the public. The work logs recorded the starting and ending point along the trail 
alignment for each trail structure or category of trail construction prescribed. These work 
logs serve two functions, one they provide the future trail builders with station by station 
prescriptions for the construction of the trail and they quantify all trail work by individual 
work categories. 

Trail Cost Estimates 

The totaled trail work quantities from the work logs for the rehabilitation of the existing 
trail and the proposed trail reroutes were then inserted into trail cost estimate 
worksheets that calculated the cost for rehabilitating or constructing the trails. These 
spreadsheets have been developed by tracking hundreds of trail construction projects 
using a wide variety of labor sources. They provide the most accurate means of 
identifying the cost of constructing or reconstructing a trail. They also help the designer 
identify the amount of time it will take to construct the trail.  

Sonoma Overlook Trail System Improvements 

Based on the assessment and rehabilitation prescriptions of the existing trails and the 
proposed trail reroutes four options were developed for improving the Sonoma Overlook 
Trail System. For each of these options there are project maps, trail work logs, trail cost 
estimate worksheets and contract documents. These documents were developed for 
both Government/Youth Corps and Professional Trail contractors. In addition, cost 
estimates were developed for the work performed by the Sonoma Overlook Trail 
Stewards and for the project inspection and quality control required for the trail 
construction contracts. It should be noted that none of these options can make the 
entire Sonoma Overlook Trail system fully sustainable. To achieve this level of 
sustainability almost the entire trail would have to be removed and rerouted.  

Option 1 

This option proposes to rehabilitate the existing trail by reconstructing the trail tread to 
the extent possible, installing steps to reduce linear grades and retain the trail tread, 
installing rock barriers, reconstructing switchbacks and climbing turns, installing check 



16 
 

dams, hardening the trail tread and installing water bars. This option has limitations as 
the most degraded trail segments no longer have soil to reshape or fill the trail tread. 
Even if retaining structures are installed and fill material is imported the linear grades 
will make it difficult to maintain these improvements (See Figure M). 

 

 

Figure M Option 1 Rehabilitate the Existing Trail System 

It is estimated that implementing Option 1 would cost $109,650 if it was performed by a 
Government/Youth Corps and $216,155 is it was performed by a Private Trail 
Contractor. The volunteer trail steward cost for materials, amenities and the project 
inspection cost is $33,297. 

 



17 
 

Option 2 

This option proposes to reroute around a problematic segment in the lower portion of 
the Overlook Trail, remove that segment and rehabilitate the remaining Overlook Trail 
from the trailhead to the junction of Toyon Trail. This option will eliminate one of the 
most unsustainable trail segments with several safety issues and replace it with a 
sustainable trail that connects to the Montini Trail (See Figure N). 

 

 

Figure N Option 2 Lower Tr. Reroute, Trail Removal and Tr. Rehab. 

This option would be the first phase of a two phase trail Improvement project. The 
second phase would be Option 4. It is estimated that implementing Option 2 would cost 
$85,048 if it was performed by a Government/Youth Corps and $127,428 is it was 



18 
 

performed by a Private Trail Contractor. The volunteer trail steward cost for materials, 
amenities and project inspection cost is $21,279. 

Option 3 

This option proposes to reroute around a problematic segment in the lower portion of 
the Overlook Trail, remove that segment and rehabilitate the remaining Overlook Trail 
from the trailhead to the end of the Overlook Loop Trail. It also includes the 
rehabilitation of Toyon Trail. This option eliminates the option 4 upper trail reroute and 
retains the problematic segment in the upper portion of the Sonoma Overlook Trail (See 
Figure O). 

 

 

Figure O Option 3 Lower Tr. Reroute, Trail Removal and Tr. Rehab. Of Remaining 
Overlook Trail and Toyon Trail 



19 
 

It is estimated that implementing Option 3 would cost $ 162,914 if it was performed by a 
Government/Youth Corps and $263,860 is it was performed by a Private Trail 
Contractor. The volunteer trail steward cost for materials, amenities and the project 
inspection cost is $43,080. 

Option 4 

This option proposes to reroute around a problematic segment in the upper portion of 
the Overlook Trail, remove that segment and rehabilitate the remaining Overlook Trail 
from the end of the upper reroute to the end of the Overlook Loop Trail. It also would 
rehabilitate Toyon Trail. This option will eliminate one of the most unsustainable trail 
segments with several safety issues and replace it with a sustainable trail. (See Figure 
P). 

 

 

Figure P Option 4 Upper Tr. Reroute, Trail Removal and Tr. Rehab. Of Remaining 
Overlook Trail and Toyon Trail 



20 
 

This option would be the second phase of a two phase trail Improvement project. The 
first phase would be Option 2. It is estimated that implementing Option 4 would cost 
$153,043 if it was performed by a Government/Youth Corps and $255,424 is it was 
performed by a Private Trail Contractor. The volunteer trail steward cost for materials, 
amenities and the project inspection cost is $31,206. 

Recommendations 

Option 1 ($142,947 Gov., $249,452 Trail Contractor) and Option 3 ($205,994 Gov., 
$306,940 Trail Contractor) are less expensive than the combined phased project of 
Options 2 and 4 ($290,576 Gov., $435,337 Trail Contractor). However, options 1 and 3 
do not fully address the sustainability issues with the Overlook Trail System. Option 1 
leaves the trail system alignments intact.  As previously mentioned the most problematic 
trail segments in the lower and upper portions of the Overlook Trail do not lend 
themselves to a long term solution as these alignments are unsustainable. Option 3 only 
addresses the lower unsustainable segment. Given the limitations of this project not all 
of the unsustainable and highly degraded segments can be eliminate but the most 
significant segments that have reroute options can be eliminated. The Option 2 and 4 
phased project addresses the upper and lower unsustainable segments with 
sustainable reroutes and removal of the unsustainable segments. They also rehabilitate 
the remainder of the Overlook Trail and the Toyon Trail.  

The trail reroutes in Option 2 and 4 also provide the trail user with more variety in 
terrain, vegetation and views. The esthetic quality of these routes will enhance the trail 
user’s experience and make their hike more pleasurable. The upper trail reroute 
provides an experience through rocky outcrops and oak forest that is absent from the 
existing trail system.      

Sonoma Trail Stewards Participation 

The utilization of volunteers on the rehabilitation of the Sonoma Overlook Trail System 
will help reduce cost and provide the stewards with an active role in this project. When 
selecting work projects for volunteers it is important to identify tasks that fit their skills 
and physical capabilities. In addition, these tasks need to be independent of the 
contractor’s work so the volunteers will not impede the progress of the contractor. Work 
items selected that meet these criteria are performing trio tread maintenance, installing 
aggregate surfacing on accessible parking spaces, installing trail signs, installing 
interpretive/trail etiquette signs, installing trail amenities such as drinking fountains, 
picnic tables and benches, installing symbolic fencing and installing straw waddles and 
sterile straw once the trail removal work is completed. 

The Sonoma Overlook Trail Stewards have already demonstrated they are more than 
capable of performing these tasks. In addition, they have and experienced trail crew 
supervisor in Fred Allebach. Fred’s experience in training and leading youth crews 
performing trail projects makes him ideal for training and leading volunteers to perform 
these tasks.  

The cost of the materials and amenities for these tasks were identified separate from 
the Government/Youth and Trail Contractor cost estimates. These costs were identified 
above. The volunteer labor required for these tasks has value and can be used as a soft 



21 
 

match when seeking grant funding. The value of the volunteer labor is as follows: 
Option 1 $6,854.86, Option 2 $3,623.13, Option 3 $4,803.72 and Option 4 $2,031.62.  

Project Inspection and Quality Control 

Regardless of the type of contractor selected to perform this project, they will require 
daily inspection to insure that they are performing the work in accordance with the trail 
work logs, contract specifications and working drawings. The quantity of work produced 
must also be measured and recorded daily for the purposes of contractor 
reimbursement. The cost for this position was separated from the Government/Youth 
and Trail Contractor cost estimates. It was included in the volunteer Trail Steward cost 
estimates. 

Project Phasing and Grant Leveraging (Option 2 and 4) 

By phasing the project the funding for the entire project does not have to be secured all 
at once. This breaks the project up into more manageable cost. Large projects can be 
more difficult to fund as they can exceed the allocation limits of many grants. Grantors 
are often willing to fund phased projects if they are well developed, have detailed and 
accurate budgets and have secured all the required environmental clearances and 
permits. Phasing can also be used to leverage the funds of one phase against another 
grant request. In these scenarios, the first grant funds are used as matching funds for 
the second grant submission. In most cases the two granting programs must have 
different funding sources to qualify for matching funds. An example would be using a 
local grant funding source as a match for a federal funding source such as the National 
Recreational Trail Project Fund. 

Assuming project funding has been secured, in a phased project Option 2 would be 
performed first. The first step in this project would be to construct the lower trail reroute. 
This would be followed by performing the rehabilitation of the Sonoma Overlook Trail 
between the intersection of the Montini Trail and the intersection of the Toyon Trail. The 
removal the unsustainable trail segment would follow and then the segment of the 
Overlook Trail between the beginning of the reroute and the trailhead would be 
rehabilitated.  

Once the second phase is completed Option 4 would be performed. Again the first step 
would be to construct the upper trail reroute. Next the segment of trail between the end 
of the reroute and the end of the Sonoma Overlook Loop Trail would be rehabilitated. 
Then the unsustainable trail segment would be removed between the end of the reroute 
and the Toyon Trail. Finally, the Toyon trail would be rehabilitated.  

Accessibility 
 
On November 25, 2013 the U.S. Access Board under the Architectural Barriers Act 
issued new accessibility standards for outdoor areas on federal lands. These standards 
provide detailed specifications for accessible trails which apply to facilities that are built, 
altered, or leased with federal funds.  
 
Although these standards do not currently apply to local government organizations such 
as the City of Sonoma they represent “The Best Available Information” on designing and 
constructing accessible trails and will be followed by State and Local Governments until 



22 
 

accessible trail standards equal to or greater than are developed and made into policy. 
Since the Sonoma Trail Stewards will be working with the City of Sonoma in the 
development and submission of environmental documents and permits it should be 
aware of these standards.  

These standards only apply to trails designated for pedestrian use. Trails designated for 
mountain bike, equestrian, multiuse, ATVs or off highway vehicles are exempt from 
these standards.  

These standards only apply to pedestrian trails directly connected to a trailhead or an 
accessible trail that substantially meets the technical requirements of these new 
standards.  

These standards only apply to trails meeting the two conditions above and that are 
either new or existing trails where the original design, function, or purpose of the trail is 
altered.  Trails that receive routine or cyclical maintenance that do not change the 
original design, function, or purpose of the trail are exempt from these standards.  
 
The proposed trail rehabilitation project does not alter the original function or purpose of 
the trail. However, the proposed trail improvements will alter the design of the trail which 
could require the application of the accessibility standards. The accessibility standards 
recognize the existence of constraints and limitations in the outdoor environment and 
allow for exceptions from specific provisions in the technical requirements where certain 
circumstances, referred to as “conditions for exceptions,” apply.  When an entity 
determines that any of the conditions for exceptions do not permit full compliance with a 
specific provision in the technical requirements, compliance with that provision is 
required to the extent practicable.  The phrase “to the extent practicable” means 
reasonably do-able under the circumstances. 

The condition for exception that applies to the Sonoma Overlook Trail Rehabilitation 
project is “Terrain”. Compliance is not practicable due to terrain.  Examples of terrain 
that is infeasible to meet accessibility guidelines are trail alignments with a limited land 
base and significant elevation differences between the starting and end locations of the 
trail. In these circumstances, substantial control points are prohibiting the linear trail 
grade needed to comply with the accessibility guidelines and require the use of trail 
structures that will serve as barriers to accessibility.  

 
When extreme or numerous conditions for exception make it impractical to construct a 
trail that complies with the technical requirements, the accessibility standards provide 
an exemption for the entire trail.  The exemption for an entire trail can only be used after 
applying the conditions for exception to portions of the trail.  In the case of the Sonoma 
Overlook Trail the very beginning of the trail is required to climb a steep hill (in excess of 
25%) for approximately 40 feet. Because the trail must traverse a narrow corridor 
between Norbom Road and the Cemetery there are no alternate routes around this 
steep hill. Beyond this problem there are many elevation controls that require steps and 
switchbacks with grades in excess of 12%. The totality of these linear grade issues and 
required rapid elevation gain structures such as steps and switchbacks make 



23 
 

compliance with the accessible standards impractical. Even though it is not possible to 
make the trail accessible the Overlook trailhead could be made accessible by 
designating two accessible parking spaces, installing an accessible drinking fountain 
and picnic table and installing a firm and stable aggregate trail from the parking spaces 
to the trail information center and accessible amenities. The costs for these 
improvements were included in the Trail Steward Cost Estimating Worksheets. 

Construction Timing, Task Assignment and Skill Requirements 

Performing this project requires considering the seasonal weather and soil moisture 
conditions. The best weather conditions are when the temperatures and rainfall are 
moderate. Some rainfall is necessary to moisten the soils so they can be shaped and 
compacted properly. The best months to obtain these conditions would be during the fall 
(October-December) and spring (March- May).   

When constructing trails during the wetter weather seasons, it is sometimes difficult to 
stay within the proper soil moisture conditions. There is the risk that the weather will be 
too wet for tread construction. However, there is a great deal of trail structure work such 
as retaining walls, steps, armored crossings, and trail hardening that can occur during 
inclement weather when the soils are too saturated to construct trail tread. Rock 
excavation work can also be performed during these conditions. The trail crew could be 
assigned to work on these trail structures or excavation activities when soil conditions 
are not optimal for tread construction. The balancing of trail crew assignments between 
these two activities will require careful planning and having all the tools, equipment and 
materials on hand to quickly transition from one work activity to another.  

The most important trail construction skills required for rehabilitating the Sonoma 
Overlook Trail system are dry stack rock multitier retaining wall construction; rock step 
construction, rock excavation, armored drain swale construction and mechanized trail 
tread construction and reconstruction. The local California Conservation Corps crews do 
not possess these skills and have not performed well when working on trail construction 
projects in the local area. I have identified the American Conservation Experience 
(ACE) organization as the Government/Youth crew contractor as they have the 
knowledge, skills and experience to perform this project. A properly licensed 
professional trail contractor should also be able to perform this project if they have the 
requisite experience.  

Materials 

This project will require good rock for the construction of steps, retaining walls, check 
dams, waterbars and armored stream/swale crossings. Some of the rock and fill rock for 
this project can be generated from the trail excavation work or from gathering rock near 
the individual trail structure sites. Most of the rock will need to be purchased from a local 
quarry and transported to the work site. The volume of rock needed for the rock 
structures are identified in the unsorted and sorted work logs. It is also identified in the 
cost estimating worksheet and bid sheets. The cost for gathering, shaping and 
transporting these rocks was included in the project cost estimate.  

Project Logistics and Local Support 

If an ACE crew is used on this project they will require spike camp facilities nearby to 
house and support their crews. The local state parks should be able to provide the 



24 
 

locations for such a spike camp. Chemical toilets should be provided at the trailhead to 
minimize the accumulation of human waste on the property. The cost of these toilets is 
identified in the project cost summaries.  

Contracting 

I have prepared contract bid summaries, work logs, work descriptions, working 
drawings, best practices, daily work record forms, sample construction schedules, bid 
forms, supplemental instructions to bidders, contract advertisements, contractor 
experience forms, mandatory bid showing sign-up sheets, fire plans and maps for use in 
developing the contract documents for constructing this trail. These documents are 
attached for your use. 

Trail Maintenance  

The badly degraded trail segments are beyond trial maintenance (See figure J). Most of 
these segments have eroded down to bedrock and are somewhat stable. Although they 
are bad they are not going to get substantially worse. They will require significant 
reconstruction work or removal if replaced by a new trail alignment. The Trail steward’s 
efforts should focus on those trail segments identified as needing trio maintenance. By 
properly shaping and outsloping the trail tread these trail segments can be stabilized. 
Areas with the highest safety concerns should be monitored (See figure K). Eliminate 
loose gravel and rocks that could cause hikers to slip, trip or turn an ankle. Consider 
installing signs that inform the hikers that there is rough and irregular tread surfaces 
encountered on the trails.    

Environmental Review 

The work logs provide a detailed description of the work to be performed under each of 
the four options. The proposed trail reroutes have been flagged and they can be 
reviewed and surveyed by the various resource and cultural specialists. This report and 
all the attached documents should provide some of the information needed for 
developing the requisite environmental documents and permits. The upper trail reroute 
does cross a rock wall and approximately 10 feet of the wall will need to be removed to 
accommodate the trail. The cultural survey performed for the original trail construction of 
the Sonoma Overlook Trail did not identify this rock wall as being a significant cultural 
resource. If a concern is raised over portions of the proposed alignments it may be 
necessary to re-align them or develop mitigation prescriptions. Please let me know if 
this occurs and I would be glad to assist you in resolving those issues.  

Once you have a chance to review this report and the attached documents please let 
me know if I need to provide further clarification or address any issues not discussed in 
my report. 

Sincerely, 
 

Don Beers 
Trail Consultant, Terra Trails 


	Agenda
	Item #1 Attachment
	Item #2 Attachment
	Item #3.a Attachment
	Item #3.b Attachment
	Item #3.c Attachment
	Item #4.a Attachment
	Item #5 Attachment
	Item #6.a Attachment
	Item #7 Attachment
	Item #9 Attachment




